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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
---------------------------------------------------------------------X  
CSDVRS, LLC, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

-against- 
 
DAVID MARCANO, 
 

Defendant. 

 
Civil Action No.  

 
 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------X  
 
 
 

 
COMPLAINT 

 

 

Plaintiff CSDVRS, LLC (“ZVRS”), a Delaware limited liability company, sues Defendant 

DAVID MARCANO (“Marcano”), a citizen of the State of New York, and states: 

1. This is an action for (i) violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, 18 U.S.C. 

§1030; (ii) Breach of Contract; and (iii) Fraud.  In brief, Defendant Marcano has been fraudulently 

accessing ZVRS’s video-relay service, a service paid for by the federal government and intended to 

assist deaf Americans communicate, for the sole purpose of masturbating in view of ZVRS’s 

employees. 

Parties 

2. Plaintiff ZVRS is a Delaware limited liability company with its headquarters located 

in Clearwater, Florida.  

3. Defendant Marcano is a citizen of the State of New York, residing in Brooklyn, Kings 

County, New York. 
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Jurisdiction 

4. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 to the 

extent that the claims alleged herein arise under federal law, as recited below. 

5. In addition, the Court has supplemental subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §1367 over all claims raised herein arising under New York state law to the extent said 

claims arise from the same facts which give rise to the Court’s original subject matter jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

6. The Court has general personal jurisdiction over Marcano pursuant to the N.Y. CPLR  

§ 301, on the grounds that Marcano resides in Brooklyn, Kings County, New York. 

 

Venue 

7. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of New York pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) 

because Marcano is located in this District and the events, actions, or omissions giving rise to the 

claims herein occurred in the Eastern District of New York. 

8. All conditions precedent to bringing this action have occurred, been satisfied, or have 

been waived. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

9. Plaintiff ZVRS is certified by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) as a 

provider of Video Relay Services (“VRS”) for deaf and hard-of-hearing persons.  

10. Using a VRS software program (also referred to herein as a “platform” or 

“application”), a deaf or hard-of-hearing person can enter a video conference with a VRS operator 

(also referred to as a “communications assistant” or “CA”), who would then place a phone call to a 
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third party on behalf of the user.  The deaf or hard-of-hearing person would then use sign language 

to communicate to the CA interpreter, who would translate the sign language into spoken 

communication to the third party and vice versa.   

11. VRS is provided free of cost to the caller.  The VRS provider is compensated for their 

services performed in connection with eligible calls from an Interstate Telecommunications Relay 

Service Fund (“TRS Fund”), which is overseen by the FCC.  In order to receive compensation from 

the TRS Fund, a VRS provider must be certified as an eligible provider by the FCC and the call must 

be eligible for compensation (i.e., on behalf of a deaf or hard-of-hearing person). 

12. In order to use VRS services, the VRS provider chosen by the user (“designated 

default provider”) must provide the VRS user with a ten-digit number, so the VRS user can make 

911 calls, and have their location information routed to the appropriate emergency service 

professionals. 

13. ZVRS offers its VRS software platforms free of cost to eligible users. 

14. Plaintiff’s website, from which an eligible user may download the ZVRS software 

platform, notifies the user that: “If you decide to download any Z application from The Z at no cost, 

you must affirm you are deaf or hard of hearing, that the Z application will be for your own personal 

use, and that you will not transfer the application to any other person under any circumstances. If a 

violation of any of these terms occurs, your application will be disabled and a financial penalty may 

be assessed to you.” (emphasis added). 

15. In addition, eligible users are required to consent to the “Z Product Agreement” listed 

on Plaintiff’s website, in order to obtain the ZVRS software platform. A copy of the Z Product 

Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

16. Section 2(E) of the Z Product Agreement states that: 
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Customer agrees not to use the Z™ product for any abusive, 
pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful 
purposes and not to use the Z™ phone in a way that interferes with 
ZVRS’s ability to provide VRS products or services to Customer or 
other customers. ZVRS shall have the right to immediately terminate, 
suspend, restrict, or cancel Customer’s use of the Z™ phone without 
advance notice in the event that ZVRS becomes aware that Customer 
is or may be breaching the prohibitions of this paragraph. 

 
See Exhibit “A” (emphasis added). 
 
17. Section 2(F) of the “Z Product Agreement” states that: 

Further, ZVRS reserves the right to investigate any abusive, 
pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful use 
or access of the Z™ product or breach of this Agreement and to seek 
reimbursement and damages, and ZVRS will not be liable for any 
cost or damage arising either directly or indirectly from Customer’s 
use or misuse of the Z™ product. Further, ZVRS reserves the right to 
assure itself that Customer’s use of the Z™ phone does not violate 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and to terminate this 
Agreement and repossess the Z™ phone immediately in the event of 
any violation. 

 
See Exhibit “A” (emphasis added). 
 
18. Section 6(G) of the Z Product Agreement states that: 

Customer agrees that, in the event Customer breaches, or threatens to 
breach, any term or condition of this Agreement, ZVRS shall 
immediately be entitled to seek all remedies available to it, at law and 
in equity. In the event that it becomes necessary for ZVRS to seek 
injunctive relief, ZVRS shall not be required to post a bond or other 
security. 

 
See Exhibit “A” (emphasis added). 
 

 

History of Obscene VRS Calls by Marcano 

19. Since January 1, 2015, Marcano has placed at least 4,648 VRS calls using ZVRS’s 

software platform, but none of those calls sought to use the video conference in order to seek 

ZVRS’s assistance to place a call to a third party.  
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20. On information and belief, Marcano is not eligible to utilize the VRS service because 

he is not deaf or hard-of-hearing. 

21. Instead, in every call made through ZVRS’s software platform, Marcano appears on 

the video call for the purpose of exposing his genitals or masturbating to Plaintiff’s female staff. 

22. Plaintiff has terminated Marcano’s VRS account, but he has created numerous 

fraudulent accounts by supplying false credentials and aliases, including but not limited to the 

following: 

a. David Marcano 
Username – Daveymar – Created 12/16/2014 – Suspended 
Email - dmarc3@optonline.net 
Address - 10 LEWIS AVE, APT 5B, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-915-7562 
VP# - 347-688-0966 
 

b. Dave Macan  
Username – Dave 1018 – Created 3/29/2015 - Suspended  
Email - L_mareno@hotmail.com 
Address - 363 S 3RD ST, APT 4A, BROOKLYN, NY 11211 
VP# - 347-467-7162 
 

c. Dave Macan 
Username - davemacan1018 – Created 2/2/2014 - Suspended –Blocked 
Email - davemacan1018@gmail.com 
Address - 91 LEWIS AVE, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-696-8090 
 

d. Davey Mareno – created 5/24/2015 
Username – Daveymareno101 – Suspended 
Email - Marenodavey@gmail.com 
Address - 22 LEWIS AVE, APT 4A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 929-267-4691 
 

e. Dave Marone – created 5/17/2015 
Username - davemarone101 – Suspended 
Email - davidmarone@gmail.com 
Address - 279 DIVISION AVE, APT 4E, BROOKLYN, NY 11211 
VP# - 347-704-3936  
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f. Davey Mar – created 8/14/2014  
Username - Davmar1018 – Suspended 
Email - Davmar10184816@gmail.com 
Address - 4 LEWIS AVE, APT 3A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-708-3261 
 

g. Dave Maccan – created 1/10/2015 
Username - Dave M – Suspended 
Email - Davemaccan@gmail.com 
Address - 4 LEWIS AVE, APT 4A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-408-0567 
 

h. Dave Mard – created 2/8/2015 
Username – Dmard – Number is active but added to Block Table 
Email - mard8015@gmail.com 
Address - 44 LEWIS AVE, APT 3A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 718-279-4986 
 

i. Dave Marc – created 7/31/2014 
Username - davemarc4816 
Email - davemarc4816@gmail.com 
Address - 22 LEWIS AVE, APT 4A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-688-0970 
 

j. Dave Marcan – created 12/10/2013 
Username - Marcan4816 
Email - Marcan4816@gmail.com 
Address - 1 LEWIS AVE, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-696-0794 
 

k. Davey Marcan – created 9/12/2013 
Username – mardav619 – Number Deactivated 
Email - dmar4816@gmail.com 
Address - 1 LEWIS AVE, 1A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - Unknown (deactivated / deleted) 
 

l. Dave Macan – created 2/2/2014 
Username - davemacan1018 – Blocked 
Email - davemacan1018@gmail.com 
Address - 91 LEWIS AVE, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
VP# - 347-696-8090 
 

m. Davey Martin – created 6/7/2015 
Username – mardav303 – Blocked - 6/15/2015  
Email – mardav303@gmail.com 
Address - 896 PARK AVE, APT 4C, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
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Contacts - 0 
VP# - 347-773-2151 
VP# - 347-773-2152 
 

n. Name – Unknown 
Username – Unknown 
Email – Unknown 
Address – Unknown 
Contacts - 0 
VP# - 5074813956 
 

o. Davey Marcum – created 5/31/2015 
Username – Marcumdavey  
Email - Daveymarcum@gmail.com 
Address - 344 RODNEY ST, APT 3C, BROOKLYN, NY 11211 
Contacts – 0 
VP# - 347-773-2137 
 

p. Davey Marcon – created 7/5/2015 
Username – Daveymarcon 
Email - Daveymarpr@gmail.com 
Address - 888 PARK AVE, APT 3C, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
Contacts – 0 
VP# - 347-773-2235 
 

q. Davey Martin – created 7/18/2015 
Username – Daveymartin 
Email - Davemartin725@gmail.com 
Address - 888 PARK AVE, APT5A, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
Contacts -0 
VP# - 347-773-2251 
 

r. Dave Martin – created 8/1/2015 
Username – Dmartind 
Email - Davem3258@gmail.com 
Address - 888 PARK AVE, APT 4B, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
Contacts – 0 
VP# - 347-773-2269 
 

s. Davey Marrone – created 8/2/2015 
Username – dmarrone 
Address - 888 PARK AVE, APT 5G, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
Contacts – 0 
VP# - 347-773-2274   
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t. Davey Martinez – created 8/15/2015 
Username - Davmarzdm 
Address -  
10 LEWIS AVE, APT 5B, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
60 DIVISION AVE, 6F, BROOKLYN, NY 11249 
22 LEWIS AVE, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
868 PARK AVE, APT 4C, BROOKLYN, NY 11206 
Contacts – 0 
VP# - 347-773-2765 
 

 
23. Although Plaintiff has repeatedly terminated Marcano’s accounts when he has 

exposed himself to Plaintiff’s female staff, he repeatedly signs up for new accounts under new false 

aliases. 

24. Marcano’s actions have caused substantial difficulty and losses to Plaintiff, including 

but not limited to: 

a. Plaintiff has incurred costs to provide interpreting services for ineligible 

VRS calls; 

b. Plaintiff has incurred loss of productivity in establishing new accounts 

based on Defendant’s falsified aliases; 

c. Plaintiff has incurred loss of productivity in terminating and/or blocking 

Defendant’s falsified alias accounts; and 

d. Plaintiff’s employees have suffered emotional distress as a result of 

Defendant Marcano’s acts, which has resulted in a loss of productivity 

and the potential threat of legal action against Plaintiff if Defendant’s 

calls were not blocked. 

25. In addition, Plaintiff has incurred productivity losses in filing police reports against 

Marcano with the Brooklyn police department and reporting Marcano’s conduct to the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation. 
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26. As recently as September 21, 2015, Marcano made additional obscene VRS calls to 

Plaintiff using the following VP#s: 347-690-1338, 347-227-0889, 718-386-4984, 718-919-3018, 

646-912-8597, 917-991-0705, 718-919-3042, and 718-864-9849. 

27. Since January 1, 2015, Plaintiff’s losses resulting from Marcano’s unauthorized 

access to Plaintiff’s computer networks and VRS services exceed $5,000.00. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF – VIOLATION OF THE COMPUTER FRAUD AND 
ABUSE ACT, 18 U.S.C. §1030(g), ET SEQ. 

 
28. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs one (1) through twenty-seven (27) of this 

Complaint as if fully restated herein. 

29. Since January 1, 2015, Marcano has regularly accessed Plaintiff’s VRS computers, 

computer systems, computer files, and electronic files without authorization from Plaintiff (owner of 

the devices) and/or in a manner that exceeded his authorization. 

30. On information and belief, as a hearing person, Marcano was at all relevant times 

ineligible to receive VRS service and obtained access to Plaintiff’s VRS systems by falsely 

certifying that he was deaf or hard-of-hearing. 

31. Furthermore, Marcano falsely representing that he would not “use the Z™ product for 

any abusive, pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful purposes” or “use the 

Z™ phone in a way that interferes with ZVRS’s ability to provide VRS products or services to 

Customer or other customers.” 

32. Although Marcano’s access to Plaintiff’s VRS computers, computer systems, 

computer files, and electronic files was terminated based on his use of Plaintiff’s VRS services for 

“abusive, pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful purposes” in violation of 

Section 2(E) of the “Z Product Agreement”, Marcano continued to access and use ZVRS’s software 

platform by employing false credentials and aliases. 
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33. Accordingly, Marcano’s access to Plaintiff’s VRS computers, computer systems, 

computer files, and electronic files following termination of his account for violation of the Z 

Product Agreement was unauthorized. 

34. Plaintiff’s VRS computers, computer systems, computer files, and electronic files that 

were used and/or accessed by Marcano without authorization qualify as “protected computers” under 

the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), 18 U.S.C. §1030(e), because they are used in or 

affecting interstate or foreign commerce or communication. 

35. Without authorization, Marcano knowingly accessed Plaintiff’s computers, computer 

systems, computer files, and electronic files with the intent to defraud and obtained items of value 

which exceeded an aggregate amount of $5,000 within a one-year period, in violation of the CFAA, 

18 U.S.C. §1030(g). 

36. To the extent that the calls made by Marcano originated in the State of New York and 

were directed to Plaintiff’s principal place of business in Pinellas County, Florida, Marcano’s 

conduct involved interstate commerce and/or communication. 

37. Plaintiff has no fully adequate remedy at law and will continue to suffer substantial 

and immediate irreparable harm unless Marcano is immediately enjoined from further accessing 

Plaintiff’s protected computers and harassing its employees, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1030(g). 

38. The Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory damages and injunctive or other equitable 

relief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1030(g). 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF – BREACH OF CONTRACT 
 

39. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs one (1) through thirty-eight (38) of this 

Complaint as if fully restated herein. 
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40. As a precondition to downloading and installing Plaintiff’s VRS platform, Marcano 

was required to, and did, agree to the terms set forth in the “Z Product Agreement.” 

41. Marcano therefore promised “not to use the Z™ product for any abusive, 

pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful purposes and not to use the Z™ 

phone in a way that interferes with ZVRS’s ability to provide VRS products or services to Customer 

or other customers.” 

42. Marcano utilized Plaintiff’s VRS computers, computer systems, computer files, and 

electronic files for abusive, pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful purposes 

by exposing his genitals to and masturbating in view of Plaintiff’s interpreters, in breach of the Z 

Product Agreement. 

43. Marcano’s conduct materially, even grossly, breached the Z Product Agreement. 

44. Pursuant to the Z Product Agreement, Plaintiff has the “right to immediately 

terminate, suspend, restrict, or cancel Customer’s use of the Z™ phone without advance notice in the 

event that ZVRS becomes aware that Customer is or may be breaching the prohibitions” of the Z 

Product Agreement. 

45. As a direct result of Marcano’s repeated breaches of the Z Product Agreement as 

alleged herein, Plaintiff has suffered harm. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF – FRAUD 

46. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs one (1) through forty-five (45) of this 

Complaint as if fully restated herein. 

47. As alleged above, Marcano induced Plaintiff to allow him to access Plaintiff’s VRS 

systems by: 

a. on information and belief, falsely representing that he was deaf or hard-of-hearing; 
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b. falsely representing that he would not “use the Z™ product for any abusive, 

pornographic, lewd, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, or unlawful purposes” or “use 

the Z™ phone in a way that interferes with ZVRS’s ability to provide VRS products 

or services to Customer or other customers”; and 

c. employing false credentials and aliases to regain access to Plaintiff’s VRS 

computers, computer systems, computer files, and electronic files when Plaintiff 

terminated his account for violation of the Z Product Agreement. 

48. Had Marcano not made these false representations and used these false credentials 

and aliases, Plaintiff would not have allowed him to access Plaintiff’s VRS systems. 

49. Given Marcano’s continued use of Plaintiff’s VRS systems to lewdly expose himself 

and harass Plaintiffs’ employees, even after Plaintiff sought to terminate his account, Marcano 

clearly acted with knowledge of the falsity of his representations and the intent to deceive Plaintiff 

into allowing him to access Plaintiff’s VRS systems. 

50. Marcano’s conduct was intentional and malicious, and deliberately interfered with the 

provision of Plaintiff’s services to the deaf community and with the well-being of Plaintiff’s 

employees. 

51. As a direct result of Marcano’s fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has suffered harm. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for a judgment issuing a temporary and permanent injunction 

prohibiting Marcano from contacting Plaintiff’s employees or accessing Plaintiff’s VRS system,  

awarding compensatory and punitive damages against Marcano,  plus prejudgment interest and costs 

on this action, and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable, including 

but not limited to the attorneys’ fees incurred by Plaintiff in prosecuting this action. 
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Dated: New York, New York 
 September 23, 2015 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 s/William J. Brennan 
 Scott T. Lyon (pro hac vice to be filed) 

William J. Brennan (WB0742) 
SEDGWICK LLP 
225 Liberty Street, 28th Floor 
New York, NY 10281-1008 
212.422.0202 (tel.) 
william.brennan@sedgwicklaw.com 
scott.lyon@sedgwicklaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff CSDVRS, LLC 
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